# Optimal Charging Strategies for Electric Vehicle Fleets

# Adithya Narasimhan





Delft Center for Systems and Control

# Optimal Charging Strategies for Electric Vehicle Fleets

MASTER OF SCIENCE THESIS

For the degree of Master of Science in Systems and Control at Delft University of Technology

Adithya Narasimhan

November 15, 2022

Faculty of Mechanical, Maritime and Materials Engineering (3mE)  $\cdot$  Delft University of Technology



TNO supported the work in this Thesis. Their cooperation is hereby gratefully acknowledged.





Copyright © Delft Center for Systems and Control (DCSC) All rights reserved.

## Abstract

Electric vehicles are a fast-growing market in the automotive sector. In addition, the widespread use of renewable energy to power electric vehicles makes them sustainable, with considerably low greenhouse gas emissions. As a result, service providers are switching to fleets of electric vehicles to promote environmental sustainability. However, unlike conventional vehicles, EVs require unique infrastructure to charge them. This leads to some technical and economic challenges. Therefore, intelligent charging strategies are needed to charge EV fleets optimally.

The thesis primarily focuses on minimizing the energy and battery degradation costs for a fleet operator using different charging strategies. To accomplish this objective, a joint optimization technique is used to solve the problem. The method used is an optimal exchange problem that works by clearing market constraints. Specifically, an ADMM-based distributed charging problem is used for charging the EV fleet. The algorithm is implemented for different charger power levels for the different strategies to analyze the difference in energy and battery degradation costs. Furthermore, a variable charger allocation method is proposed to charge the EV fleet.

# **Table of Contents**

	Ack	nowledgments	vii
1	Intro	oduction	1
	1-1	EV Fleet Charging Problem	2
	1-2	Battery Charging Methods	6
		1-2-1 Conductive Charging	6
	1-3	Research Question	7
2	Prel	iminaries	8
	2-1	ADMM	8
	2-2	ADMM Formulation	9
	2-3	Optimality and Stopping Condition	11
	2-4	Charging Methods	11
		2-4-1 Greedy Charging	12
		2-4-2 Minimal Energy Charging	12
3	Opt	imal EV Fleet Charging	13
	3-1	Cost Minimization Problem	13
	3-2	Distributed EV Aggregation Model	15
	3-3	Optimization model for optimal fleet charging problem	15
	3-4	EV Optimisation Model	16
		3-4-1 Battery Model	18
		3-4-2 Driving Profile and Constraint Formulation	19
	3-5	EV Aggregator Optimization Model	23
	3-6	Stopping Criteria	24
	3-7	ADMM Algorithm	25

4	Batt	tery Degradation	26
5	Sim	ulation Studies	30
	5-1		30
	5-2	Night-time charging	31
		5-2-1 Constant Power Level Charging	32
		5-2-2 Variable Power Level Charging	34
	5-3	Day-Night Charging	37
		5-3-1 Constant Power Level Charging	38
		5-3-2 Variable Power Level Charging	43
6	Con	clusion and Future Work	47
	6-1	Conclusion	47
	6-2	Future Work	48
Α		MM: Convergence	49
	A-1	Convergence	50
в	Sim	ulation Environment	51
	B-1	ΜΑΤLAB	51
	B-2	Simulation Parameters	51
	Bibl	iography	53

# **List of Figures**

1-1	Global EV Market Demand	2
1-2	Centralized Control Architecture	3
1-3	Decentralized Control Architecture	4
3-1	EV framework	15
4-1	Capacity Loss vs. C rate	27
4-2	Capacity loss vs. Current and Power	28
4-3	Measured data vs. Fitted Data	28
5-1	Energy Price for the day	31
5-2	Driving Profile for Night Charging	31
5-3	Percentage of Satisfied Scenarios for different charger types	32
5-4	Degradation Cost of EVs for different chargers	33
5-5	Aggregator Energy Demand for EVs using different chargers	33
5-6	Aggregator Energy Demand	35
5-7	Fleet Degradation Cost for different energy scenarios	35
5-8	Aggregator Costs for different energy scenarios	36
5-9	Total Cost of the fleet for different energy scenarios	37
5-10	Driving Profile of the EVs	37
5-11	Percentage of satisfied scenarios using greedy charging	38
5-12	Percentage of satisfied scenarios using minimal energy charging	39
5-13	Degradation Cost of EVs using greedy charging for different chargers	40
5-14	Degradation Cost of EVs using minimal energy charging for different chargers	40
5-15	Aggregator Energy Demand using greedy charging for EVs using different chargers	41
5-16	Aggregator Energy Demand using minimal energy charging for EVs using different chargers	42

5-17	Aggregator EV Demand using greedy charging	43
5-18	Aggregator EV Demand using minimal energy charging	44
5-19	Fleet Degradation cost	44
5-20	Aggregator cost	45
5-21	Total Cost	46

# List of Tables

3-1	Parameters for fleet optimization problem	13
3-2	Parameters for aggregator problem	17
3-3	Parameters for aggregator problem	24
5-1	Cost Incurred for fleet using various chargers	34
5-2	Cost Incurred for fleet using greedy charging for various chargers	41
5-3	Cost Incurred for fleet using minimal energy charging for various chargers $\ldots$ .	42
B-1	EV parameters	51
B-2	Price based parameters	52

## Acknowledgments

"You have a right to perform your prescribed duties, but you are not entitled to the fruits of your actions."- Srimad Bhagvaad Gita.

I thank my supervisors Dr. Ing Sergio Grammatico at TU Delft and Mr. Robinson Medina Sanchez at TNO, for their oversight. I also give my sincere thanks to my Ph.D. guide Aitazaz Ali Raja for his constant guidance. Furthermore, I sincerely thank my parents, R.S. Narasimhan and Sudha Narasimhan, for the love and support provided throughout the thesis. I also want to mention Anjana Sridharan for being my pillar of support throughout the thesis. Finally, I would like to add some notable mentions: Rishi, Swathi, Sundaramoorthy, Prassana, and Rohan, for all their support.

Delft, University of Technology November 15, 2022

## Chapter 1

## Introduction

Driven by the need to mitigate the climate crisis, the world is devising ways to reduce the use of fossil fuels and adopt sustainable and green energy. Fossil fuels are one of the main threats to the earth's environment as they contribute to many greenhouse gases (GHG) emissions [3]. These emissions are majorly released by the transport sector which is currently the largest benefactor of greenhouse gases globally. Thus, a broad-scale adoption of electric vehicles could bring significant changes to the transportation's environmental footprint [6]. Furthermore, the European Union (EU) promotes the increase of renewable and carbon-free energy resources and design complimentary policies for the electrification of the transport sector [30]. These green policies have helped electric vehicles (EVs) to become a key player in the mobility sector. [8].

EVs have been present since the invention of the electric motor around 150 years back. In the late 1920s and 1930s, electric motor vehicles were used more than IC engine vehicles. However, around 1930, the electric vehicle was no longer used as internal combustion engines became more developed and mass-produced at a reasonable cost. Also, EVs could not exploit long-distance traveling during the 1930s, along with poor infrastructure for charging and unreliable electricity transmission [20]. Recently, battery technology has considerably improved, allowing EVs to travel greater distances with a single charge. Despite the technological advancements, there are still several hindrances to the high penetration of EVs. Increasing EV penetration will have system-scale impacts and interactions in the electricity generation, transmission, distribution, and demand side management sectors, the resources, technologies, and wastes associated with energy storage and batteries [6]. Another fundamental limitation is the battery's composition, which is prone to degradation each time the EV charges. Therefore, optimal fleet charging strategies are adopted to lessen the impact of the degradation



problem. [9].

In this thesis, the primary focus is on optimal fleet charging strategies for EVs. Many service providers like GO Sharing, DHL, and Albert Heijn are investing in EVs because of government incentives and policies to develop green businesses. In such business models, the service provider or fleet operator manages a fleet of EVs. The fleet operators are mostly interested in reducing their Total Cost of Ownership (TCO). It includes depreciation cost throughout the ownership of the EVs, the cost of maintenance, battery purchase, taxes, and cost of charging. Therefore, optimal fleet charging will significantly benefit fleet operators by reducing energy costs and battery degradation.

### 1-1 EV Fleet Charging Problem

With an increase in the fleet size of service providers, optimal charging strategies are needed. This thesis aims at solving a fleet charging problem for a fleet operator. There are two different aspects considered for fleet providers.

- 1. Operational Aspects: Operational aspects deal more with optimizing factors like load regulation, frequency regulation, and battery degradation.
- 2. Cost Aspects: Cost aspects are optimization based on reducing costs for aggregators or users for charging the EVs.

In this thesis, only the cost aspect is considered. The control objective to be optimized is to reduce the cost of charging a fleet of EVs for a fleet operator. In literature, two major control architectures are described to solve the fleet charging problem: centralized and decentralized charging.

Centralized EV architecture employs a centralized mechanism to obtain the EV profiles for charging from all the vehicles. The fleet of vehicles is then optimized based on the EV profile and grid constraints by the central controller, as shown in figure (1-2).



Figure 1-2: Centralized Control Architecture

Esmaili et al. [10, 35, 36], develop various centralized charging methods for different optimization problems like reducing power loss, minimizing system cost, and adjusting power frequency. In, [8], a hierarchical scheme is employed for charging the EV station loads in the distribution network to minimize energy costs. In [27], a dynamic programming optimization method of charging the fleet is proposed based on the forecast of the load information. However, in the papers mentioned above, the charging patterns of the EV are not considered. Qi et al. [14, 23], employ a horizon control-based method to mitigate uncertainties in dynamic charging cases. Furthermore, the problem's length increases with the number of EVs. Therefore, implementing a practical centralized approach becomes difficult.

The second control architecture is decentralized control. Each EV acts independently in a decentralized control architecture to solve a problem, as shown in figure (1-3).



Figure 1-3: Decentralized Control Architecture

The EVs are independent decision-makers and make decisions for their more minor optimization problems in size than the entire fleet. Therefore, it is also referred to as indirect control. In decentralized control, EV users can control their charging patterns employing various techniques [7, 16, 30, 31, 34, 37]. The information on the schedule of one vehicle is not available to others. Therefore, decentralized charging control does not comply with optimal charging regimes due to this lack of information at individual layers. However, since the primary problem is divided into sub-problems that reduce complexities by a major solution tier, decentralized control is highly scalable in practical applications. Yang et al. [34] focus on charging EV stations based on renewable energy and distribution networks. Cao et al. [7] proposed a concept that uses the forecast of price signals to charge the vehicles. In [4, 26, 31], decentralized charging frameworks are used based on a game theoretic approach. Among the two control architectures, decentralized control suits the thesis problem as it is scalable and computationally tractable for larger fleets.

For the control objective taken, different approaches were compared through an extensive literature review. We can broadly divide the approaches into three categories. First is heuristic algorithms which are majorly based on concepts found in nature. The advantage of heuristic algorithms is that a system model is not required to solve the problem. They aim to achieve high-quality results for the optimization they try to solve but cannot always attain the exact solution in every case with certainty. Also, they are easy methods to implement and are

flexible for different problem fits [32]. Two major heuristic algorithms can be used for the fleet charging problem. The first is a genetic algorithm [2, 12, 22, 33] and the second one is particle swarm optimization [4, 19, 21]. However, as the length of the problem increases, its complexity increases, making it difficult to solve it numerically. The second approach is a game theory-based approach. The focus of the game theory is the game that is played, which acts as a model for an interactive situation among the individual rational players [4, 19, 21]. The key to game theory is that one player's payoff is contingent on the strategy implemented by the other player. The game identifies the players' identities, preferences, and available methods and how these strategies affect the outcome. Depending on the model, various other requirements or assumptions may be necessary. The game theoretic approach is a decentralized control method and is very effective if the game is designed perfectly with the role of all players mentioned with certainty. However, there are some drawbacks. For example, once a game is chosen for the problem, it cannot be alternated, making it inflexible. Furthermore, if the game chosen is inappropriate, obtaining a nash equilibrium is problematic.

Therefore, the final method researched is the distributed control method. Distributed control is a form of decentralized control. Distributed optimization is used for the control and coordination of distributed systems. It is used to parallelly compute solutions for problems as the information and processing are shared among the agents. The scalability of the solvers is improved using traditional rationale. Global optimization is obtained through local interactions, and computations [5]. There are many distributed control algorithms, but ADMM is majorly researched and implemented in this case. ADMM is suitable for coordinating many processes, substantially solving individual problems to solve a more significant problem. Furthermore, ADMM is helpful for large-scale optimization, as in this case, where the fleet of electric vehicles will increase over the years. Khaki et al. [18,38] propose ADMM as a method to increase scalability and reduce the computational burden for scheduling the EV charging in distribution grids. Although ADMM is primarily used for separable functions, in [11,13,39] ADMM is used to solve a non-separable function with coupling constraints for vehicle charging. Furthermore, ADMM achieves faster convergence. For the research question in the literature, Jose et al. [25] can be implemented that uses decentralized control on ADMM to solve the valley filling and minimal cost charging problem for a fleet of electric vehicles. ADMM algorithm is apt to solve more significant problems that require faster convergences. The advantage of ADMM is that the algorithm is highly robust and supports decomposition. Furthermore, the optimality achieved is asymptotic, and few iterations are required to achieve the desired results for any optimization problem. Therefore, it is highly recommended for convex problems where agents must cooperate. However, all algorithms have specific cons. To implement ADMM, the cost function and constraints to be optimized have to be convex. Since the convergence occurs fast, there are chances that the solution obtained is not precisely accurate. In the next section, we discuss the different charging methods of the battery.

### 1-2 Battery Charging Methods

The battery of an electric vehicle is the most critical component that determines the range of the car and how long it takes to recharge. Different battery capacities are considered based on the type and size of the cars. In addition, electric vehicle range depends on factors like temperature, speed, driving patterns, and road conditions [8].

Electric Vehicles have three types of charging techniques:

- 1. **Conductive Charging:** In conductive charging, the electric vehicle (EV) connector and charge inlet are in direct contact. The charging is done using a standard electrical unit or a charging station.
- 2. Inductive Charging: The charging is done using electromagnetic fields. The charge is transferred in the form of energy using couplers from the charging station to an electrical unit. This energy stored in the electrical unit is used to charge the EVs.
- 3. Changing Battery: This technique removes the discharged battery from the car and replaces it with a fully charged battery.

Conductive charging is the most commonly used method of charging. It is cheap compared to changing batteries frequently and has minimal power losses due to direct contact charging, unlike inductive charging. Therefore, in this thesis, we only focus on conductive charging [9].

### 1-2-1 Conductive Charging

#### **Charging Levels**

Charging levels are classified into various levels based on the amount of power used for charging, and the time the car takes to charge.

**Home Charging:** In this charging, the EV is connected to the most common electrical network. The EV has an onboard charger to receive energy from an AC supply.

**Fast AC Charging:** Fast AC charging uses a 7kW (32 A) single-phase or 21kW three-phase supply to charge the EVs. A separate AC supply is dedicated to this charging. The vehicles are equipped with onboard chargers capable of accepting the charge from the dedicated AC supply, which is present at private or public locations.

**Fast DC Charging:** In this charging, usually, the supply given is around 50kW or higher. With a DC charging supply, the battery of EVs can be charged from 0 to 80% within 20 minutes. Therefore, separate DC equipment is required to provide energy from an off-board charger to the Electric Vehicle (EV) in private or public locations.

### 1-3 Research Question

The main problem addressed in the thesis is the cost minimization of a fleet of electric vehicles is for a fleet operator. The fleet operators mainly deal with two major costs: energy costs and the battery degradation costs. There is always a trade-off between the energy costs and the battery degradation costs in the fleet charging problem and this thesis addresses this trade-off by formulating a joint optimization problem. Therefore, the goal of the thesis is to reduce the total incurred costs paid by the fleet operators by optimally solving the problem for various power level chargers using different charging strategies. Simulation studies are designed for the various power level chargers and the best strategy is anlaysed.

## Chapter 2

## **Preliminaries**

This chapter discusses the basics of the ADMM fleet charging problem.

### 2-1 ADMM

In this section, we look at the ADMM method. The ADMM algorithm combines the decomposability of the dual ascent with the convergence properties of the method of multipliers. ADMM is a convex optimization algorithm usually used for solving separable functions. However, it can also optimize fairly non-smooth convex functions. Furthermore, the generalized problem formulation given in [5] can be applied to most problems.

$$\min f(x) + g(z)$$
st.  $Ax + Bz - c = 0$ 
(2-1)

where, the variables  $x \in \mathcal{R}^l$ ,  $z \in \mathcal{R}^n$ . The functions f and g are convex. The functions are subject to a linear equality constraint where  $A \in \mathcal{R}^{p*l}$ ,  $B \in \mathcal{R}^{p*n}$  and  $c \in \mathcal{R}^p$ . The method of multipliers is adopted. Therefore the augmented lagrangian is taken as:

$$L_{\rho}(x, y, z) = f(x) + g(z) + y^{T}(Ax + Bz - c) + \frac{\rho}{2} ||Ax + Bz - c||_{2}^{2}$$
(2-2)

where  $L_{\rho}$  is the augmented lagrangian. The iterations needed to solve the problem are given as follows [5]:

Adithya Narasimhan

$$x^{k+1} = \operatorname{argmin}_{x} L_{\rho}(x, z^{k}, y^{k})$$

$$z^{k+1} = \operatorname{argmin}_{z} L_{\rho}(x^{k}, z, y^{k})$$

$$y^{k+1} = y^{k} + \rho(Ax^{k+1} + Bz^{k+1} - c)$$
(2-3)

where  $\rho > 0$ . The ADMM algorithm resembles the dual ascent and method of multipliers very closely. In the method of multipliers, the lagrangian is minimized in conjunction with the two primal variables. However, in ADMM, the variables x and z are updated alternating or sequential, accounting for the alternating direction term [5]. It can be viewed as a Gauss-Seidel iteration over the variables x and z instead of a joint minimization. This separation of the two variables is necessary to decompose the functions f and g. The variable y is then updated using the next states  $x^{k+1}$  and  $z^{k+1}$ . The following section illustrates a straightforward solution to solve the ADMM exchange problem.

### 2-2 ADMM Formulation

The EV fleet charging is considered an exchange problem in the thesis. The solution to the sharing problem is explained in this section. The sharing problem in equation (3-6) has a shared objective g which is an indicator of the set  $\{0\}$ . The components of vector  $x_i$  represent the quantity of a commodity that is exchanged among N agents [5]. Therefore, the exchange problem given in equation (3-6) is reformulated as follows [5]:

$$\begin{array}{ll} \underset{x_{i},z_{i}}{\text{minimize}} & \sum_{i=1}^{N} f_{i}\left(x_{i}\right) + g(z) \\ \text{subject to} & x_{i} = z_{i} \ i = 1, 2 \dots N \end{array}$$

$$(2-4)$$

where,

$$g_z = 0$$
 if  $\sum_{i=1}^{N} z_i = 0$  (2-5)

Looking at equation (2-4) and equation (3-6), we can say that both the formulations are the same. Therefore, to solve the problem, we first define an augmented Lagrangian function [24].

$$L_{\rho} = \sum_{i=1}^{N} f_i(x_i) + g(z_i) + y_i^T(x_i - z_i) + \frac{\rho}{2} ||x_i - z_i||_2^2$$
(2-6)

where  $\rho$  is the penalty parameter of the augmented term. The augmented term introduces a penalty onto the primal variables x and z by taking the square of the Frobenius norm.

Master of Science Thesis

 $y = [y_1, y_2 \dots y_N]^T$  is the vector of Lagrangian variables. The function is minimized over the primal variables  $x_i$  and  $z_i$  and maximized over the Lagrangian variables  $y_i$ .

$$\max_{y} \min_{x,z} L_{\rho}(x,z,y) \tag{2-7}$$

The Lagrangian equation (2-6) is solved as in equation (2-8)

$$x^{k+1} = \min_{x} L_{\rho}(x, z^{k}, y^{k})$$

$$z^{k+1} = \min_{z} L_{\rho}(x^{k+1}, z, y^{k})$$

$$y^{k+1} = \max_{y} L_{\rho}(x^{k+1}, z^{k+1}, y)$$
(2-8)

The terms are then expanded by substituting the lagrangian function in equation (2-6). The term x shows the initial value vector of the commodity x, and  $x^{k+1}$  is the updated value vector of the commodity.

$$x_{i}^{k+1} = \min_{x_{i}} f_{i}(x_{i}) + y_{i}^{k} \left(x_{i} - z_{i}^{k}\right) + \frac{\rho}{2} \left\|x_{i} - z_{i}^{k}\right\|_{2}^{2}$$

$$z^{k+1} = \min_{z} g(z) - y^{kT}z + \frac{\rho}{2} \left\|x^{k+1} - z\right\|_{2}^{2}$$

$$y^{k+1} = \max_{y} y^{T} \left(x^{k+1} - z^{k+1}\right).$$
(2-9)

So, the equations (2-9) are solved iteratively. First, the update of x is computed by minimizing the Lagrangian function. Then, the z update is computed with the updated x variable. Finally, we maximize the variable y with updates of x and z. So, solving these iterations, we arrive at the following formulation, which gives the same solution as the exchange problem in equation (3-6).

$$x_{i}^{k+1} = \min_{x_{i}} f_{i}(x_{i}) + y_{i}^{k}x_{i} + \frac{\rho}{2} \left\| x_{i} - x_{i}^{k+1} + \bar{x}^{k+1} \right\|_{2}^{2}$$

$$y_{i}^{k+1} = \bar{y}_{i}^{k} + \rho \bar{x}^{k+1}$$
(2-10)

In equation (2-10),  $\bar{x}^{k+1} = 1/N \sum_{i=1}^{N} x_i^{k+1}$  and  $\bar{y}^{k+1} = 1/N \sum_{i=1}^{N} y_i^{k+1}$  are the averages. Next, there is a scaled version of the equation (2-10). In the scaled version we consider a variable  $u = y_i/\rho$ . Therefore, rewriting the formulation of equation (2-10) we get:

$$x_{i}^{k+1} = \min_{x_{i}} f_{i}(x_{i}) + \frac{\rho}{2} \left\| x_{i} - x_{i}^{k} + \bar{x}^{k} + u^{k} \right\|_{2}^{2}$$

$$u_{i}^{k+1} = \bar{u}_{i}^{k} + \bar{x}^{k+1}$$
(2-11)

Adithya Narasimhan

The mathematical solution to the ADMM exchange problem is solved using the above equations. Finally, the optimality and stopping criteria for the ADMM method are illustrated in the next section.

### 2-3 Optimality and Stopping Condition

Optimality in ADMM is achieved when the primal feasibility and dual feasibility are obtained, which is given as [5]:

$$Ax^{*} + Bz^{*} - c = 0$$
  

$$0 = \nabla f(x^{*}) + A^{T}y^{*}$$
  

$$0 = \nabla g(z^{*}) + B^{T}y^{*}$$
  
(2-12)

where  $\nabla$  represents the gradients of the functions f and g.

The residuals obtained using the optimality conditions are related to the bounds on the objective suboptimality of the current point. The residuals for the primary and dual feasibility are given as follows [5]:

$$r^{k+1} = Ax^{k+1} + Bz^{k+1} - c$$
  

$$s^{k+1} = \rho A^T B(z^{k+1} - z^k)$$
(2-13)

The residuals obtained for the primal and dual feasibility are small; therefore, the suboptimality is also tiny. Therefore, the termination criterion is that the residuals must be smaller than some value which is represented as:

$$||r^k||_2 \le \epsilon^{pri} \ ||s^k||_2 \le \epsilon^{dual} \tag{2-14}$$

where  $\epsilon^{pri} > 0$  and  $\epsilon^{dual} > 0$  are called the feasibility tolerances.

The following section discusses the charging strategies implemented in the thesis.

### 2-4 Charging Methods

This section explains the two charging methods implemented in the thesis: greedy and minimal energy charging.

### 2-4-1 Greedy Charging

In this strategy, as the name suggests, the EVs try to charge the battery to its maximum capacity each time for the next trip. The assumption is that the EV is connected to the grid each time it stops driving. This strategy is currently being used in the real world.

### 2-4-2 Minimal Energy Charging

Minimal energy charging is the more thoughtful strategy, where each time the EV is connected, it tries to charge the EV battery with the minimal amount of energy required for the next trip. This strategy can significantly reduce the charging costs of individual EVs and might be a better option.

## Chapter 3

## **Optimal EV Fleet Charging**

### 3-1 Cost Minimization Problem

The problem considered in this thesis is a fleet charging problem devised as a joint optimization problem. There are two components in EV fleet charging: the aggregator and the EVs. The aggregator wants to minimize the cost of charging the fleet using the price of energy from the grid, whereas the individual EVs want to minimize their degradation costs. In this thesis, a private fleet operator wants to minimize the total cost. However, there is always a tradeoff between the aggregator's perspective and the EV's perspective of charging. Therefore, a joint optimization problem is formulated [24]. The parameters for the optimal fleet charging problem are shown in table [3-1]:

Variable	Variable Description	Type
Т	Time Horizon	$\mathrm{T}\in\mathcal{Z}$
$x_a$	Fleet charging profile for the day	$x \in \mathcal{R}^T$
$x_i$	Charging profile of vehicle i for a day	$x \in \mathcal{R}^T$
$f_a(x_a)$	Cost function of aggregator	Convex function
$f_i(x_i)$	Cost function of EV i	Convex function
$\mathcal{X}_a$	Constraint set of aggregator	Convex set
$\mathcal{X}_i$	Constraint set of EV i	Convex Set
$\eta$	Trade-off parameter	$\eta\in\mathcal{R}$
$N_e$	Number of EV present	$N_e \in \mathcal{Z}$

Table 3-1: Parameters for fleet optimization problem

The minimization problem is given as follows [24]:

The optimization variable x is the charging power. Therefore,  $x_a$  is the power profile of the entire fleet per time slot for a day.  $x_i$  is the power profile of the individual EV for the day.

Now, let us consider that if  $x_i(t) > 0$ , the car is charging at time t. Similarly, if  $x_i(t) < 0$ , it is considered discharging at time t. The same consideration can be taken for the aggregated EV profile  $x_a$ . So, the problem is reformulated considering the number of EVs and the aggregator combined. The aggregator and the EVs are considered agents:

$$N = N_e + 1 \tag{3-2}$$

The aggregator is considered the  $N^{th}$  agent. Intuitively looking, the aggregator spends energy to charge the cars and can be considered discharging energy.

$$x_N = -x_a \tag{3-3}$$

The cost function of the  $N^{th}$  agent is given as:

$$f_N(x_N) = f_a(-x_N) \text{ if } -x_N \in \mathcal{X}_a \tag{3-4}$$

Since the aggregator is the  $N^{th}$  agent, and the EVs are agents from  $\{1 \dots N-1\}$  and the cost function for the EVs is given as:

$$f_i(x_i) = \eta f_i(x_i) \text{ if } x_i \in \mathcal{X}_i \tag{3-5}$$

The fleet charging problem can therefore be rewritten as an exchange problem:

$$\begin{array}{ll} \underset{x_i}{\text{minimize}} & \sum_{i=1}^{N} f_i\left(x_i\right) \\ \text{subject to} & \sum_{i=1}^{N} x_i = 0 \end{array}$$
(3-6)

The exchange problem considers N agents exchanging a common goal under an equilibrium constraint [5]. The variables  $x_i \in \mathbb{R}^T$ ,  $i=1 \dots N$ .  $f_i$  is the cost function of subsystem i. The formulation of the exchange problem is discussed in the preliminary work. The following section illustrates the distribution model used for EV fleet charging.

## 3-2 Distributed EV Aggregation Model

In this section, the exchange problem is redefined in terms of the fleet charging problem. The working model is shown in fig (3-1)



Figure 3-1: EV framework

The grid operator determines the energy prices sent to the aggregator. However, in this case, the fleet operator is the aggregator. The EV Aggregator model then updates the Lagrangian price vector y based on the constraints and sends the scaled price along with the aggregated charging profile to the EVs. At each iteration step k, the EVs and the EVA solve their subproblems independently. The incentive signals are updated continuously with each iteration (the scaled price signal  $\bar{u}_i$  and the updated average profile of all EV's  $\bar{x}_i^{\ k}$ ) [25].

### 3-3 Optimization model for optimal fleet charging problem

The optimal EV management problem in figure (3-1) solves the aggregator and individual EV problems separately. Nevertheless, they are connected through update signals and the exchange problem constraint mentioned in equation (3-6). Therefore, the formulation is given as follows: For each EV i=1,2...N-1 [25]:

$$x_{i}^{k+1} = \underset{\text{subject to}}{\text{minimize}} \eta f_{i}\left(x_{i}\right) + \frac{\rho}{2} \left\|x_{i} - x_{i}^{k} + \bar{x}^{k} + u^{k}\right\|_{2}^{2}$$
(3-7)

For the aggregator:

$$x_N^{k+1} = \frac{\text{minimize}}{\text{subject to}} \frac{f_a(x_N) + \frac{\rho}{2} \left\| x_N - x_N^k + \bar{x}^k + u^k \right\|_2^2}{\text{subject to}} \frac{(3-8)}{x_N \in \mathcal{X}_a}$$

Master of Science Thesis

Adithya Narasimhan

0

The coordinator, which is also the aggregator here:

$$\bar{x}^{k+1} = x_N^{k+1} + \frac{1}{N_e} \sum_{i=1}^{N_e} x_i^{k+1}$$

$$u^{k+1} = u^k + \bar{x}^{k+1}$$
(3-9)

where,  $u_i^k = \frac{y_i^k}{\rho}$ .  $y_i^k$  is the lagrangian multiplier associated with the price vector.  $\rho$  stands for the penalty term in the augmented lagrangian function. The incentive signals from the aggregator denote the average power mismatch of each iteration. The exchange ADMM problem is viewed as a general equilibrium problem with a price adjustment process [1]. So, each EV agent wants to minimize its power consumption  $x_i$  to minimize individual cost  $f_i(x_i)$ . adjusted by a cost  $y_i^T x_i$ .

### 3-4 EV Optimisation Model

Batteries are a crucial component of an EV. Lithium batteries are prime candidates for EVs because of their high power density and higher cycle life [29]. Even though they have a good life cycle, the degradation of lithium batteries is one of the significant problems that EV fleet owners face. The different charging methods are explained in section (1-2-1). The more the batteries charge and discharge, the more they degrade. Currently, the research on improving battery life is extensive. In this thesis, we try to use a model that depicts the aging cost of an EV battery with the optimization variable as the power drawn from the chargers.

The power rating of a charger determines how fast the EV charges. If the charger power is high, the faster it charges. Therefore, to model this, a quadratic relation is considered. The battery degrades with the square of the power it charges over time. Therefore, the cost function of the EVs in equation (3-7) is given by [25]:

$$f_{i}(x_{i}) = \min_{x_{i}} \alpha ||x_{i}||_{2}^{2}$$

$$\underline{R_{i}} \leq A_{i}x_{i} \leq \bar{R}_{i}$$

$$\underline{S_{i}} \leq B_{i}x_{i} \leq \bar{S}_{i}$$

$$\underline{x_{i}} \leq x_{i} \leq \bar{x_{i}}$$

$$(3-10)$$

Adithya Narasimhan

Variable	Variable Description	Туре
Т	Number of Time Slots	Scalar
$c_i$	Number of times connected to grid	Scalar
$T_{c_i}$	Number of time slots connected	Scalar
$\alpha$	Battery Depreciation parameter	Scalar
$x_i$	Charging Profile of vehicle i for the day	Vector $\in \mathcal{R}^T$
$A_i$	Connection Matrix	Matrix $\in \mathcal{R}^{c_i \times T}$
$\underline{R}$	Minimal Energy Required	Vector $\in \mathcal{R}^{c_i}$
$\bar{R}$	Maximal Energy Required	Vector $\in \mathcal{R}^{c_i}$
$B_i$	Progressive Input Matrix	Matrix $\in \mathcal{R}^{T_{c_i} \times T}$
$\underline{S_i}$	Minimal State of battery	$\text{Vector} \in \mathcal{R}^{T_{c_i}}$
$\bar{S}_i$	Maximal State of battery	$\text{Vector} \in \mathcal{R}^{T_{c_i}}$
$\bar{x_i}$	Maximum Charger Power	Vector $\in \mathcal{R}^T$
$x_i$	Minimum Charger Power	Vector $\in \mathcal{R}^T$

Table 3-2: Parameters for aggregator problem

The first inequality  $\underline{R_i} \leq A_i x_i \leq R_i$ , sets bound on the minimum energy required by the EV for each time it is connected. The energy required depends on the EV's driving profile and charging strategy. The second constraint,  $\underline{S_i} \leq B_i x_i \leq \bar{S_i}$ , determines the state equation of the EV battery. It guarantees that the state of the battery is kept on an operational level for each time slot. It determines the energy that can be put into or removed from the battery. The last constraint,  $\underline{x_i} \leq x_i \leq \bar{x_i}$  determines the minimum and maximum power that is drawn.

The optimization of the individual EVs is based on their personal goals and the incentive signal. The scaled variable u can be considered the energy price that the aggregator defines for the EVs. The mean value of the optimization variable x represented by  $\bar{x}$  can be considered a social cost caused by the EVs not cooperating to achieve global convergence. Individual EV optimization takes these prices into account. The individual EV optimization model is given as follows:

$$x_i^{k+1} = \eta \min_{x_i} \alpha ||x_i||_2^2 + \frac{\rho}{2} ||x_i - x_i^k + \bar{x}^k + \bar{u}^k||_2^2$$
(3-11)

s.t. 
$$\underline{R_i} \le A_i x_i \le R_i$$
  
 $\underline{S_i} \le B_i x_i \le \overline{S_i}$   
 $x_i \le x_i \le \overline{x_i}$ 

Master of Science Thesis

#### 3-4-1 Battery Model

Battery models are highly non-linear and, therefore, not convex. The choice of the objective function strongly depends on the optimization algorithm [15]. In this case a convex objective function is required; therefore, we consider a linear model for the battery.

The primary states of the battery are the SOC and the temperature. In this case, we ignore the temperature and solely focus on the SOC. SOC is the amount of charge available in the battery divided by the nominal capacity of the battery  $C_{nom}$  (Ah) [25]. The voltage for operating is taken as  $V_{nom}$ .

The SOC state equation is given as follows:

$$SOC = \eta \frac{I}{C_{nom}} \tag{3-12}$$

where  $\eta$  is the efficiency and I [A] is the current flowing through the battery. Another way to interpret it is the State of Energy (SOE).

$$SOE = \eta \frac{IV_{nom}}{E_{nom}} \tag{3-13}$$

where  $E_{nom}$  is the nominal energy content of the battery. If we discretize this equation, it can be written as:

$$SOE(k+1) = SOE(k+1)\eta \frac{I(k)V_{nom}}{E_{nom}}\Delta t$$
(3-14)

Here, we take  $P = V_{nom}I$ .

$$SOE(k+1) = SOE(k+1) + \eta \frac{P(k)}{E_{nom}} \Delta t$$
(3-15)

Now, we consider  $x^k = P^k$  as our optimization variable. The state equation can be reformulated as

$$SOE(k+1) = SOE(k+1) + \frac{\eta \Delta t}{E_{nom}} x^k$$
(3-16)

Multiplying this equation with  $E_{nom}$ 

$$E(k+1) = E(k) + \eta \Delta t x^k \tag{3-17}$$

The state of the battery can be defined in terms of a minimum and maximum bound for each time step and is given by:

Adithya Narasimhan

$$\frac{E_{min}(k+1) - E(k)}{\eta \Delta t} \le x^k \le \frac{E_{max}(k+1) - E(k)}{\eta \Delta t}$$
(3-18)

This generally defines the state of the battery. It defines the energy consumed by the battery. Therefore, the state constraints can be defined as:

$$\underline{S} \le Bx \le \bar{S} \tag{3-19}$$

The other constraint is the charging requirements which depend on the charging strategy. Using the equation (3-17) is written as:

$$\frac{\underline{E_{req}} - E^{tc-1}}{\eta \Delta t} \le x^k \le \frac{\overline{E_{req}} - E^{tc-1}}{\eta \Delta t}$$
(3-20)

This is then rewritten as:

$$\underline{R} \le Ax \le \bar{R} \tag{3-21}$$

The final constraint is the minimal and maximal power that can be drawn from the grid and is given as:

$$\underline{x} \le x \le \bar{x} \tag{3-22}$$

The definitions for the parameters B,  $\underline{S}$ ,  $\overline{S}$ , A  $\underline{R}$ ,  $\overline{R}$ ,  $\underline{x}$ ,  $\overline{x}$  depends on the driving profile and constraint formulation which is explained in the next section.

#### 3-4-2 Driving Profile and Constraint Formulation

In this case, EVs have complete knowledge of the driving profile required for each trip for the entire optimization period. For the sake of simplicity, let us ignore the EV indexes for now. The driving profile is defined as a row vector  $\mathbf{d} \in R^T$ , where an element of this vector  $\mathbf{d}$  is 0 if the EV is not connected and 1 if the EV is connected to the grid at time slot T. The number of times the EV is connected to the grid is defined by c. With this, the amount of energy required for the trips can be defined in the vector  $E_{reg} \in R^c$ .

The definition of the variables B,  $\underline{S}$ ,  $\overline{S}$ , A, R,  $\underline{x}$  and  $\overline{x}$  depends on the driving profile and the charging strategy that the EV follows. Based on these variables, constraints are devised to solve the optimization problem. However, first, let us look at some assumptions that are taken.

- The time slots taken are in one-hour intervals.
- Each time the vehicle is connected to the grid, it charges else, we take the car is driving.

Based on the driving profile and charging methods, the constraints are devised and presented in the following sections.

#### **Power Level Constraints**

The constraint determines the minimum and maximum energy that can be taken from the grid as mentioned in equation (3-11). This is determined by multiplying the driving vector for each EV by the power drawn by each vehicle based on its charger type at a particular time.

$$\underline{x}_i = d_i \cdot^* \underline{x}_i \tag{3-23}$$

$$\bar{x}_i = d_i \cdot^* \bar{x}_i \tag{3-24}$$

where d is the driving vector and  $x_{min}$  and  $x_{max}$  and the minimum and max power that can be drawn from a charger by an EV.

There are different variations of driving profile vectors that can be considered for each EV. For example, a driving vector for 1 EV can be given as follows:



The driving vector above can have different variations based on the driving profile. Similarly, the power drawn by the EV from a charger is given by  $x_{min}$  and  $x_{max}$ 

The minimum power taken can be 0, which is the EV is not charging for that particular time.

$x_{min} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0$	0 (	0
---	-----	---

The maximum power that can be drawn is restricted by the type of charger used by the EV. For example, if the EV uses a 16kW charger, the maximum power bound is 16 kW.

Adithya Narasimhan

#### **Energy Demand Constraints**

This constraint determines the minimum energy that must be given to the EV before the next trip. Therefore, it is given by the formula:

$$R_i \le A_i x_i \le \bar{R}_i \tag{3-25}$$

where, A is the connection matrix, and  $\underline{R_i}$  and  $\overline{R_i}$  is the lower and upper bound on the amount of energy required before the next travel. The connection matrix depends on the number of times the EV connects to the grid and the time horizon of the optimization.

#### Case 1

If we take c=1 and T=24, i.e., the car is connected to the grid once with a time horizon of 24 hrs.

$$\underline{R} = \bar{R} = \frac{E_{req}}{\eta \Delta t} \tag{3-26}$$

where R is the amount of energy that must be put into the vehicle for the next trip.  $\eta$  is the charger efficiency, and  $\Delta t$  is the difference between charging slots. This case is also called home charging, where the EV tries to charge the required amount in one charge.

#### Case 2

If we take c=2 and the T=24, the car is connected to the grid twice with a time horizon of 24 hrs. The upper and lower limit for the energy bounds  $\underline{R}$  and  $\overline{R}$  are separately defined based on the charging strategy.

• Greedy Charging: In greedy charging, as stated, it charges the battery each time it gets connected to the grid. In this case, it is connected twice; therefore, the battery charges to the energy requirement needed for that trip each time.

4 —	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
л —	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	1	1

$$\underline{R} = \bar{R} = \frac{1}{\eta \Delta t} \begin{bmatrix} E_{req1} \\ E_{req2} \end{bmatrix}$$
(3-27)

Master of Science Thesis

• Minimal Energy Charging: In minimal energy charging, it tries to minimize the amount of energy put into the battery by considering both trips together.

1 —	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
л —	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	1	1

$$\underline{R} = \frac{1}{\eta \Delta t} \begin{bmatrix} E_{req1} + E_{req2} - E_{bat} \\ E_{req1} + E_{req2} \end{bmatrix}$$
(3-28)

$$\bar{R} = \frac{1}{\eta \Delta t} \begin{bmatrix} E_{req1} \\ E_{req1} + E_{req2} \end{bmatrix}$$
(3-29)

#### **Battery State Constraints**

The third and final constraint defines the minimal and maximal energy that is allowed or can be taken from the battery. It also defines the dynamics of the battery. The formula is given as follows:

$$\underline{S}_i \le B_i X_i \le \bar{S}_i \tag{3-30}$$

where B is, the input matrix and  $\underline{S}$  and  $\overline{S}$  are the minimal and maximal states. The input matrix B depends on which time slots the EV charges. The EV charges at 8-time slots; therefore, the input matrix has eight rows with 24-time slots. An example of an input matrix for the driving vector (3-4-2) is given as follows.

	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0
	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	0
	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	1	0	0	0	0
R _	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	1	1	0	0	0
D —	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	1	1	0	0	0
	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	1	1	0	0	0
	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	1	1	0	0	0
	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	1	1	0	0	0

The input matrix is taken as a progression of the summation of the power variables at particular time slots. The bounds for both charging strategies are given as follows:

Adithya Narasimhan

$$\underline{S} = \begin{bmatrix} E_{req1} - E_{bat} \\ E_{req1} - E_{bat} \\ E_{req1} - E_{bat} \\ E_{req1} - E_{bat} \\ E_{req1} + E_{req2} - E_{bat} \\ E_{req1} + E_{req2} - E_{bat} \\ E_{req1} + E_{req2} - E_{bat} \end{bmatrix}$$
(3-31)  
$$\bar{S} = \begin{bmatrix} E_{req1} \\ E_{req1} \\ E_{req1} \\ E_{req1} \\ E_{req1} \\ E_{req1} \\ E_{req1} + E_{req2} \end{bmatrix}$$
(3-32)

where  $E_{bat}$  is the battery capacity that can be used. In the following section, the aggregator model is explained.

F

#### **EV** Aggregator Optimization Model 3-5

The aggregator's goal is to minimize the overall cost of charging the entire fleet of vehicles. These requirements can come from a third party interested in such EV behavior, e.g., a fleet operator in this case. A price-based approach is implemented for the control of the EV fleet in this thesis.

In a price-based optimization, the goal is to optimize the fleet of EVs such that their aggregated EV behavior incur minimal costs under certain constraints imposed on the minimum and maximum aggregated power for the given time horizon. Therefore, the cost function of the aggregator problem in equation (3-8) is given as:

$$f_a(x_a) = \min_{x_a} p^T x_a$$

$$s.t. \ \underline{x_a} < x_a < \bar{x_a}$$

$$(3-33)$$

Master of Science Thesis

Variable	Variable Description	Type
Т	Number of Time Slots	Scalar
р	Electricity price profile	Vector $x \in \mathcal{R}^T$
$x_a$	Fleet Charging profile for a time in the day	Vector $x \in \mathcal{R}^T$
$\underline{x_a}$	Aggregated maximum energy fed-back to grid	Vector $\in \mathcal{R}^T$
$\bar{x_a}$	Aggregated maximum consumption	Vector $\in \mathcal{R}^T$

Table 3-3: Parameters for aggregator problem

where p is the price of electricity in (&/kWh). The constraints are the limits on minimum and maximum power that can be given back to the grid to be taken from the grid, respectively. Therefore, in the ADMM framework, the optimization problem for the aggregator is as follows:

$$x_{a}^{k+1} = \min_{x_{a}} -p^{T}x_{a} + \frac{\rho}{2} ||x_{a} - x_{a}^{k} + \bar{x}^{k} + \bar{u}^{k}||_{2}^{2}$$
(3-34)  
s.t.  $-\underline{x_{a}} \ge x_{a} \ge -\bar{x}_{a}$ 

In the next section, the stopping criteria formulation for the EV fleet charging.

### 3-6 Stopping Criteria

As we define in our preliminary work of the ADMM method, the stopping criteria for ADMM are given by the primal  $r^k$  feasibility and dual feasibility  $s^k$  [5]. The formulation taken in this case is given as follows [25]:

$$r_i^k = \bar{x}_i^k \tag{3-35}$$

$$s_i^k = -\rho N(x_i^k - x_i^{k-1} + (\bar{x}_i^{k-1} - \bar{x}_i^k))$$
(3-36)

$$\begin{aligned} |r_i^k||_2 &\leq \epsilon_i^p \\ |s_i^k||_2 &\leq \epsilon_i^d \end{aligned} \tag{3-37}$$

The convergence is satisfied only when both the primal variable r and dual variable s are lower than the tolerance threshold.

## 3-7 ADMM Algorithm

In this section, the pseudo-code for the ADMM algorithm is shown.

```
Algorithm 1 EV ADMM
```

```
Initialization \rho, y_i^k, x_i^k, x_a^k, \epsilon_i^p, \epsilon_i^d
k = 0
                                                                                                       ▷ Iteration steps
while (3-37) not true do
                                                                                           \triangleright Check for Convergence
    for all i=1:N_e do
         Solve individual EV optimisation problems using (3-7)
    end for
    Solve the EV Aggregator optimization problem using (3-8) update \bar{x}^{k+1} and y_i^{k+1} using (3-9)
Compute r^k by (3-35) and s^k by (3-36)
                                                                                       \triangleright New Incentive Computed
    if (3-37) true then
         break loop
    else
         do the default actions
    end if
    Send \bar{x}^{k+1} and y_i^{k+1} to EV's
                                                                                            \triangleright Incentive sent to EV's
    k=k+1
                                                                                        \triangleright Update iteration number
end while
```

## Chapter 4

## **Battery Degradation**

The battery degradation directly relates to the power taken by EV according to equation (3-10). However, the battery degradation also depends on external and internal factors like temperature, depth of discharge (DOD) and c-rate, charging, discharging, and time [17]. Battery degradation is, therefore, a non-linear process. The battery degradation model can be classified into theoretical and empirical models. Theoretical degradation models usually depend on the loss of lithium ions and other active materials. These models provide detailed explanations of the various degradation mechanisms and how they are affected by the use and condition of the battery. Empirical models are formulated based on experimental data. The empirical models are specifically designed for a particular application that cannot be used for another application [29]. Therefore, in the thesis, we try to estimate the degradation constant  $\alpha$  through an empirical model that depends on the c-rate. C-rate is considered the bridging variable because we can indirectly relate it to power. Degradation of a battery is taken from [29] as follows:

$$Q_{loss} = B \cdot \exp[\frac{-31700 + 370.3 * Crate}{RT}](A_h)^z$$
(4-1)

where  $Q_{loss}$  is the percentage of capacity loss, B is the pre-exponential factor, R is gas constant, T is the absolute temperature, and z is the power law factor.

The exponent term in the function shows that it follows the Arrhenius power law. For higher charging rates, as mentioned in [29], it is observed that the power factor remained relatively constant, and the value was found to be 0.55. However, the pre-exponential factor B decreased

with increasing C-rates. Then if we compute the capacity loss based on the experimental data from [29], we can observe the following trend.



Figure 4-1: Capacity Loss vs. C rate

In figure (4-1), the red line is the capacity loss computed using equation (4-1) at 0.5C, 2C, 6C and 10C. The value of the capacity loss shows an exponential increase as the C rate increases. The blue line shows the interpolated values at various C rates, which also follow the same trend.

The c rate of the battery is usually measured as the time the battery takes to charge and discharge. For example, a graphite-LiFePO4 battery cell with a rated capacity of 2 Ah and discharge current of 2A for a C rate of 2C is considered. So, the battery discharges 2A of current in 30 minutes. Now, we can see that the C rate and current are linked, and the relation is given as follows:

$$Crate = \frac{I_{dis}}{C_{rated}} \tag{4-2}$$

The current flowing through the cell while charging can be computed using equation (4-2). Therefore, the power put into the battery can be found by the current passing through it. Power is the voltage multiplied by current. Therefore, we multiply the current obtained by the battery's nominal voltage to calculate the power.



Figure 4-2: Capacity loss vs. Current and Power

Plots (4-2a, 4-2b) both show a greater amount of capacity loss with increase in power and current. So, this thesis implements four charger ratings like 5kW, 16kW, 25kW, and 40kW. Therefore, we use this model to try a fit to the EV optimization model equation (4-1) to determine a degradation constant  $\alpha$  from it.

The model is fit using the curve fitting toolbox in MATLAB. First, we need to provide the toolbox with values, and then we provide it with the regression equation to which we want to fit the data. The equation to be fitted is given as follows:

$$f(P) = \alpha P^2 + b \tag{4-3}$$

where P is the power taken by the charger. The toolbox automatically fits the data, and the unknown constant  $\alpha$  is predicted.



Figure 4-3: Measured data vs. Fitted Data

Adithya Narasimhan

In figure (4-3), the black points are the computed data points, and the blue line is the fitted line for equation (4-3). The constant  $\alpha$  obtained for all the power values after the fit is 0.017  $\notin /kWh$ .

## Chapter 5

## Simulation Studies

This chapter presents a simulation study for the optimal fleet charging problem discussed in chapter 3. The fleet charging problem tries to minimize the aggregator and degradation costs.

### 5-1 Simulation Setup

In our simulation setup for case one, we consider a fleet of 40 EVs managed by a single fleet operator. The maximum distance an EV travels in a single day is around 300 km. As an EV consumes around 0.45-0.65 kWh of energy to drive a distance of 1 km, the maximum distance corresponds to an energy requirement of 250 kWh. To consider the extent of uncertainty in the driving tasks an EV is supposed to perform, we randomly generate a uniform distribution of 100 energy demand profiles for EVs in the range of 1 to 250 kWh. Furthermore, we consider different power charging levels in the simulation. The power ratings of the four chargers are 5kW, 16kW, 25kW, and 40kW.

However, for the second case, the EVs are connected to the grid twice. The simulation setup has the same fleet size. However, in this case, the two individual energy requirements are generated. Therefore, we consider a maximum energy range of 125kWh each time. In this case, we implement two charging strategies at four different power levels and analyse associated costs to gain insights for finding a favorable strategy for the fleet operators.

The aggregator optimization given in equation (3-8) optimizes the aggregator energy based on the energy price of the day. The energy price profile for a day is shown in figure (5-1).



Figure 5-1: Energy Price for the day

## 5-2 Night-time charging

The EVs managed by a fleet operator mostly drive during the day and return to the EV hub at night. Therefore, night charging refers to a case when the EVs are connected to the grid overnight. The EVs are connected to the grid only once. In this case, the only charging method possible would be a greedy one. The definition of the greedy charging method is explained in Chapter 2. The EVs are connected to the grid for 8 hours, as shown in the driving profile (5-2). When an EV connects to the grid, the energy required for the next trip must be provided in a single charge.



Figure 5-2: Driving Profile for Night Charging

Master of Science Thesis

#### 5-2-1 Constant Power Level Charging

In this section, we run simulations for the 100 randomly generated energy demand scenarios and charge EVs using the four different power level chargers that are 5kW, 16kW, 25kW, and 40kW.



Figure 5-3: Percentage of Satisfied Scenarios for different charger types

In figure (5-3), the percentage of satisfied scenarios of the individual EVs are shown for the various chargers. For example, taking the 5kW charger, only 7-20% of the energy demand scenarios are satisfied by the individual EVs. This is because a 5kW charger can only provide a maximum of 40kWh for 8 hours. Therefore, it shows that almost 80-90% of scenarios have an energy requirement greater than 40kWh, and a 5kW charger does not satisfy the requirements. Furthermore, with higher charger powers like 16kW and 25kW, a 20-60% increase in the satisfied scenarios is observed. Here, only a 40kW charger satisfies energy demand for 100% of the scenarios. This analysis alone suggests that using the highest power level charger can better fulfill the expected demand safely. However, this is much costlier in terms of battery degradation, which is analyzed next.

To compare the degradation and aggregator costs, we now consider a scenario where all chargers satisfy the energy requirements. In this case, the energy requirement is assumed to have a maximum range of 40kWh for all EVs. The simulation is then run, and the results are observed.

The figure (5-4) shows the degradation cost incurred by individual EVs based on the charger type. As expected, the charger power rating relates directly to the battery degradation. For example, if we consider EV numbers 7, 8, and 31, there is an apparent increase in degradation



Figure 5-4: Degradation Cost of EVs for different chargers

based on the charger used. This is because even though the energy requirement is the same, the amount of energy put into the EV at a particular time differs. Therefore, if more energy is put into the EV at a particular time to charge faster, the more it degrades. The entire degradation cost of the EV fleet is presented in the table (5-1). Interestingly, as the higher power level chargers can put more energy during the period of lower energy price, the incur lower cost to an aggregator. However, due to much higher battery degradation the total cost of charging with the high power chargers is high.



Figure 5-5: Aggregator Energy Demand for EVs using different chargers

Master of Science Thesis

The figure (5-5) shows the aggregator energy demand for the EV fleet for the entire optimization period. We assume that the maximum energy that the grid can provide at any hour is around 600kWh. The aggregator charges the EVs to minimize the energy price. Therefore, it tries to minimize charging at high prices. We note that between 07:00 till 16:00 the EVs are not connected to the charging stations. Here, from 00:00 till 02:00, the energy prices are low, as shown in figure (5-1), thus maximum energy is consumed. Consequently, if the charger has a higher power rating, it can put more energy at lower price to reduce the aggregator costs significantly. It is also important to note that if a lower power charger can fulfill the demand for an energy requirement, it puts less stress on the grid, making it favorable for grid operators in case of high EV penetration. The aggregator cost for the fleet is shown in table (5-1).

Charger Power	Fleet Degradation Costs	Aggregator Costs	Total Costs
$5 \mathrm{kW}$	70.50 €	379.49 €	450 €
$16 \mathrm{kW}$	201.30 €	328.15 €	529.45 €
$25 \mathrm{kW}$	281.47 €	264.07 €	545.54 €
$40 \mathrm{kW}$	356.69 €	296.55 €	653.25 €

Table 5-1: Cost Incurred for fleet using various chargers

The term fleet degradation refers to the battery degradation of all the EVs in the fleet. Furthermore, aggregator cost is the price paid for using energy from the grid. The table (5-1) shows the fleet degradation, aggregator, and total costs incurred by the fleet. Furthermore, the cost of degradation for a lower rating charger, like a 5kW charger, is the least, whereas for a 40kW charger is the most. However, if we look at the aggregator cost, it is different. The aggregator costs seem to decrease with a higher power because, a higher power charger can put more energy at cheaper energy price times. Nevertheless, the 5kW charger is the most suited overall, resulting in the lowest costs compared to the other three chargers.

#### 5-2-2 Variable Power Level Charging

In section (5-2), we observed that using a lower-rating charger fares better for cases when the energy demand is not high. Therefore, in this case, a variable charger allocation is implemented for the 100 energy demand scenarios to help reduce the degradation and aggregator costs. Finally, we compare it with the 40kW charger case that satisfies all the energy demand scenarios.

The aggregator energy demand is plotted in figure (5-6). The aggregator demand is based on the energy price. Therefore, energy is added at periods when the energy price is low. First, from 07:00 to 16:00, no energy is added as the EV is considered driving which is given in the driving profile (5-2). The rest of the time, the EVs are connected to the grid. During those



Figure 5-6: Aggregator Energy Demand

times, the EVs try to put maximum energy at times 00:00, 01:00, 02:00, and 21:00. This is because, at those times, the energy price is low, and the aggregator tries to minimize the cost. However, if we compare the 40kW chargers and the variable chargers, we observe that the 40kW charger has more freedom to charge at the time when the price is low. Therefore, it can reduce the aggregator costs as low as possible.



Figure 5-7: Fleet Degradation Cost for different energy scenarios

In figure (5-7), the fleet degradation cost is computed for the 40kW chargers and the variable chargers' case. The fleet degradation of the 40kW chargers is considerably higher than the

variable charger cases. This is because the charger assigned in the variable charger case is based on the energy requirement. For example, if the energy requirement is above 40kWh and less than 128kWh, 16kW can satisfy the requirement. The results also show that a lowerrating charger will lower degradation costs. Therefore, the variable charger case is the more suitable case among the two as it reduces the degradation cost of the fleet significantly.



Figure 5-8: Aggregator Costs for different energy scenarios

The aggregator cost for the entire fleet is plotted in (5-8). Unlike the degradation cost, the aggregator cost for the variable charger case is larger than the 40kW chargers. As seen in figure (5-6), the aggregator demand for the variable charger is greater than the 40kW charger cases. Therefore, it results in higher costs.

Finally, the total cost incurred by the fleet is shown in figure (5-9). The total cost is the sum of the degradation and aggregator costs. Now, even though the aggregator cost of the 40kW is better compared to the variable chargers, the degradation cost incurred is considerably high. Therefore, the total cost incurred from the variable chargers is less than the 40kW chargers.

From the above simulation results, it is good to assume that using different power level chargers based on the energy demand is better than using chargers of the same power level. The total cost incurred is significantly reduced. Therefore, the variable power charging approach is better suited in this case, when the EVs are connected to the grid only once.



Figure 5-9: Total Cost of the fleet for different energy scenarios

## 5-3 Day-Night Charging

Day-Night charging is a case where EVs are connected to the grid twice. The simulation setup is the same as in section 5-1. The driving profile of the 40 EVs is shown below in figure (5-10). Furthermore, in this case, two different charging strategies; greedy charging and minimal energy charging are implemented. The charging strategies are explained in Chapter 2.



Figure 5-10: Driving Profile of the EVs

#### 5-3-1 Constant Power Level Charging

The simulation is run using a constant power level charger for 100 randomly generated energy demand scenarios. The four charger power levels are a 5kW, 16kW, 25kW and 40kW. Two charging strategies are implemented for each power level charger: greedy charging and minimal energy charging. In figure (5-11), the percentage of satisfied scenarios for the individual EVs using greedy charging is presented for the entire day.



Figure 5-11: Percentage of satisfied scenarios using greedy charging

A 5kW charger satisfies around 14-26% of the energy requirement scenarios. However, the rest of the 74-86% of the time, the 5kW charger does not satisfy the energy requirements of the EVs. Next, the 16kW charger is taken. This charger satisfies about 58-81% of the scenarios. This makes only 19-42% of the scenarios unsatisfied. Then for a 25kW charger, the scenarios satisfied are about 83-95%. Finally, the 40kW charger satisfies 100% of the time for all 100 scenarios.

Second, the simulation is run for all the charger types using the minimal energy charging method. In figure (5-12), the percentage of satisfied scenarios for the individual EVs is presented for the entire day.



Figure 5-12: Percentage of satisfied scenarios using minimal energy charging

For example, taking the 5kW charger, only 2-13% of the scenarios are satisfied by the individual EVs. A 5kW charger can only provide a maximum of 40kWh for 8 hours. Therefore, it shows that almost 87-98% of scenarios have an energy requirement greater than 40kWh, and a 5kW charger does not satisfy the requirements. However, the 16kW charger satisfies 36-70% of the scenarios. However, 43-64% of the scenarios remain unsatisfied. Furthermore, the 25kW charger satisfies almost 76-92% of the scenarios. However, there remains 8-24% of the scenarios are unsatisfied. Finally, if we look at the 40kW charger, it satisfies 100% of the scenarios in each case.

In the analysis, the minimal charging case satisfies fewer cases than the greedy charging case. This is because, with greedy charging, the energy is put into the EV is each time it connects to the grid. It charges to the full capacity of the battery. However, with minimal energy charging, the energy put is minimal to satisfy the next trip. However, the analysis alone suggests to use a higher power level charger to safely fulfill all the energy requirements. Nevertheless, this will be much costlier in terms of battery degradation which we analyze next.

To compare the degradation and aggregator costs, we now consider a scenario where all the chargers satisfy the energy requirements. in this case, we consider an energy requirement such that the maximum range of energy is 5kW. Then, the simulation is run for all the chargers for both charging strategies, and the results are observed.



Figure 5-13: Degradation Cost of EVs using greedy charging for different chargers

The figure (5-13) presents the degradation costs of the individual EVs using a greedy charging method for the various charger types. As the charger power increases, the degradation cost increases for specific EVs in the fleet can be observed. The reason is that EV degradation depends on the amount of power put in at a particular time. If the EV draws more power at a particular time, more degradation cost it incurs. The degradation cost of the fleet is given in table (5-2)



Figure 5-14: Degradation Cost of EVs using minimal energy charging for different chargers

The figure (5-14) presents the degradation costs of the individual EVs using a minimal energy

Adithya Narasimhan

charging method for the various charger types. Similar to the greedy charging case, degradation costs are higher when the charger power is higher. However, if we compare the greedy charging and the minimal energy case, minimal energy has a lower degradation cost. Therefore, the least degradation cost is when a 5kW charger is used with minimal energy charging, whereas the maximum cost is using a 40kW charger with greedy charging. The degradation cost of the fleet is given in table (5-3)



Figure 5-15: Aggregator Energy Demand using greedy charging for EVs using different chargers

The figure (5-15) shows the aggregator demand of the EVs using greedy charging for different chargers. The lower power chargers, like 5kW, can only provide up to 5kWh energy in an hour. However, higher power level chargers like 25kW and 40kW can put energy in a particular time. So, if we observe the figures, the EVs try to put the maximum energy at periods 02:00, 06:00, 11:00, and 14:00 when the energy price (5-1) is meager. Furthermore, the amount of energy depends on when the EV is connected to the grid. The aggregator cost incurred is shown in table (5-2).

Charger Power	Fleet Degradation Costs	Aggregator Costs	Total Costs
5kW	69.50 €	418.42 €	487.92 €
$16 \mathrm{kW}$	195.93 €	298.70 €	494.63 €
$25 \mathrm{kW}$	281.60 €	287.94 €	569.54€
40kW	359.43 €	287.93 €	647.36 €

Table 5-2: Cost Incurred for fleet using greedy charging for various chargers

The table (5-2) shows the degradation cost, aggregator cost, and the total cost incurred by the fleet using a greedy charging method. In this case, the energy is added each time it connects

to the grid. In the table (5-2), the 5kW charger is the most effective in terms of degradation among the three as it yields the lowest cost overall. However, if the aggregator costs are seen, the 40kW charger has the least cost. However, a 40kW charger incurs a higher overall cost due to its degradation; therefore, a 5kW is the most effective charger.



Figure 5-16: Aggregator Energy Demand using minimal energy charging for EVs using different chargers

The figure (5-16) shows the aggregator demand of the EVs using minimal energy charging for different chargers. The aggregator demand, in this case, reduces the aggregator cost even further compared to the greedy charging case. The figure shows that more energy (5-1) is put at 02:00, 06:00, 11:00, and 14:00 to reduce the aggregator costs. The aggregator costs are shown in table (5-3).

Charger Power	Fleet Degradation Costs	Aggregator Costs	Total Costs
5kW	67.51 €	380.92 €	448.43 €
16kW	175.37 €	236.08 €	411.45 €
$25 \mathrm{kW}$	217.03 €	178.74 €	395.77 €
40kW	504.96 €	131.09 €	636.05 €

Table 5-3: Cost Incurred for fleet using minimal energy charging for various chargers

The table (5-3) shows the degradation cost, aggregator cost, and total incurred costs using a minimal charging method. Compared to the greedy charging case, minimal energy charging has lower incurred costs in total. However, in this case, the 25kW charger yields the best result. Even though the degradation cost incurred by the 25kW charger is relatively high, the aggregator costs are meager, making the overall cost lower. Furthermore, even the 16kW

charger has a lower overall cost. It differs only by  $15 \in$ .

Now, in both cases of greedy charging and minimal energy charging, the aggregator demand is quite less for the lower power chargers. This is very beneficial for a grid operator when there is a higher penetration of EVs in the grid as it puts less strain on the grid. Furthermore, in this case, where the EVs are connected to the grid twice minimal energy charging strategy makes a better strategy for charging the EVs. It results in lower total cost in comparison to the greedy charging method.

#### 5-3-2 Variable Power Level Charging

In section (5-3-1), we observed that lower rating chargers have lower degradation costs but high aggregator cost. However, higher rating chargers have lower aggregator costs but higher degradation. Now, in this case a variable charger allocation is implemented to reduce the degradation and aggregator costs. We then compare the results with the 40kW charger case that satisfies all the energy demand scenarios.



Figure 5-17: Aggregator EV Demand using greedy charging

The aggregator demand for the greedy charging method is plotted in figure (5-17). Now, we can see that the aggregated energy in the 40kW charger case is higher in comparison to the variable charging case. This is because 40kW chargers can put more energy at times when the energy price is cheap. This shows that the aggregator cost for the 40kW chargers should be lower than the variable power charger case.



Figure 5-18: Aggregator EV Demand using minimal energy charging

The aggregator demand for the minimal energy charging method is plotted in figure (5-18). Now, this case we again see that the aggregator energy for the 40kW charger is higher than the variable charger case. Also, when we compare the greedy charging and minimal energy charging case, the minimal energy charging has a higher aggregator demand than the greedy charging.



Figure 5-19: Fleet Degradation cost

The degradation costs for the entire fleet is shown in figure (5-19) for both the charging strategies. The minimal energy charging is better compared to greedy charging in both cases.

However, the variable charger case has lower degradation compared to the 40kW charger. The lower degradation accounts to the fact that in a variable charger case, we use lower rating chargers to satisfy the energy demand that are within the scope for the charger. Overall, the variable charger case with minimal energy charging has the lowest fleet degradation costs whereas the greedy charging with the 40kW chargers has the highest degradation.



Figure 5-20: Aggregator cost

The aggregator costs for the fleet are shown in figure (5-20) for the greedy and minimal energy charging strategy. Unlike, the degradation costs, the aggregator costs for the 40kW charger are lower compared to the variable charger case. If we observe, figure (5-17),(5-18), the energy put at at cheaper energy prices are higher in the 40kW charger case. Therefore, the aggregator costs incurred using 40kW chargers will be lower than the variable charger case. Furthermore, the minimal charging case with the 40kW charger results in the lowest aggregator costs whereas the variable charger case using greedy charging has the highest aggregator cost.



Figure 5-21: Total Cost

Finally, the total cost for the fleet is computed as shown in figure (5-21). Interestingly, we observe that total cost incurred by the variable chargers in both the charging methods is lower than the 40kW chargers. Even though the aggregator costs of the 40kW chargers are lower, the degradation costs are considerably higher. Therefore, the total cost incurred increases for a 40kW charger. Furthermore, if we see the minimal energy charging with the variable charger case results in the least overall costs than the greedy charging variable charger case. The best case among the four is the minimal energy charging with variable charger whereas the worst case is a greedy charging case with 40kW chargers.

## Chapter 6

## **Conclusion and Future Work**

### 6-1 Conclusion

In this thesis, we formulate optimal EV fleet charging as a convex optimization problem [25] to minimize the cost of charging the fleet, considering energy and battery degradation costs. We solve the resulting optimization via an ADMM-based algorithm. For modelling battery degradation, we utilize a non-linear empirical battery model [29] to identify a battery degradation constant. The empirical model mainly depends on the c-rate, which directly relates to the power level of the charger. Therefore, we construct a relation between capacity loss and power, and then the obtained values are fitted into the EV degradation model to predict a constant battery degradation factor. The simulation studies are designed to analyze and obtain a charging strategy to minimize the cost of charging for a fleet operator.

The simulation results concluded that lower power chargers did not satisfy the energy requirements for most scenarios. However, as the charger power level increases, a higher percentage of scenarios are satisfied. Therefore, the simulation was run for a feasible case where all power level chargers satisfied the energy requirements to compare the aggregator and battery degradation costs. For the feasible case, it is observed that using lower power chargers always benefits the fleet, resulting in lower degradation costs. Furthermore, it is essential to note that the aggregator demand is low with lower power chargers. This implies that even if there is higher penetration of EVs in the grid, it will not affect the grid. However, there is a trade-off concerning the aggregator costs. Similarly, fleet operators can use higher-level power chargers to reduce aggregator costs. Nevertheless, this results in considerably higher degradation costs for the fleet.

Therefore, the concept of variable charger allocation is presented, giving the best solution among all the simulation cases. The variable charger allocation allocates chargers based on the energy requirement of the EVs and, therefore, reduces aggregator and battery degradation costs. Furthermore, considering the two charging strategies that were implemented: minimal energy charging was the better strategy than greedy charging. Minimal energy charging only charges for the energy required for the next trip. This significantly reduces the battery degradation costs resulting in lower total incurred costs. Finally, it can be inferred that using such intelligent methods to charge the EVs help reduce the TCO for the fleet operators.

### 6-2 Future Work

In this thesis, we use the aggregator model as a price-based model, i.e., the aggregator tries to minimize energy costs. However, the aggregator model can be altered based on the requirement. For example, two other alternate aggregator models can be a valley filling and direct coupling model to support the grid operation. We also note that the process of battery degradation is highly non-linear and depends on many factors like temperature, c-rate, DOD, charging, and time.

Currently, we only consider a quadratic function that depends on the power drawn from the chargers and is only an approximation of the battery degradation. However, as battery degradation constitutes a considerable cost for EVs, a promising future direction can be to incorporate more sophisticated degradation models and design optimization methods to handle the resulting cost function. Furthermore, the problem can incorporate dynamic pricing schemes for the electric prices and uncertainties associated with the constraints, for example, including uncertainty in driving profile based on driver behavior or integrating delay in fleet arrival.

## Appendix A

## **ADMM: Convergence**

In this chapter, the convergence criteria for the ADMM method is discussed in detail. One assumption on the function f and g is made and one assumption on the problem is considered.

Assumption 1: The (extended-real-valued) functions  $f : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R} \cup \{+\infty\}$  and  $g : \mathbb{R}^m \to \mathbb{R} \cup \{+\infty\}$  are closed, proper, and convex.

The assumption is expressed compactly using epigraphs. The function f satisfies assumption 1 if and only if its epigraph

$$epi f = \{(x,t) \in \mathbf{R}^n \times \mathbf{R} \mid f(x) \le t\}$$
(A-1)

is a nonempty convex set.

The meaning of Assumption 1 is that the x-update and z- update can be are solvable. There exist a x and z not necessarily unique, that minimizes the augmented Lagrangian. It is also important to note that the function f and g are considered as non differentiable functions and assume value of  $+\infty$ .

Assumption 2: The unaugmented Lagrangian  $L_0$  has a saddle point. Explicitly, there exist  $(x^*, z^*, y^*)$  not necessarily unique, for which

$$L_0(x^*, z^*, y) \le L_0(x^*, z^*, y^*) \le L_0(x, z, y^*)$$
(A-2)

Master of Science Thesis

holds for all x,y,z.

Considering assumption 1, it follows that  $L_0(x^*, z^*, y^*)$  is finite for any saddle point  $(x^*, z^*, y^*)$ . This implies that  $(x^*, z^*)$  is a solution to (3.1), so  $Ax^* + Bz^* = c$  and  $f(x^*) \leq \infty$ ,  $g(z^*) \leq \infty$ . It also implies that  $y^*$  is dual optimal, and the optimal values of the primal and dual problems are equal, i.e., that strong duality holds. Note that we make no assumptions about A, B, or c, except implicitly through assumption 2.

### A-1 Convergence

The ADMM iterations satisfy the following conditions considering the assumptions 1 and 2:

- Residual convergence.  $r^k \to 0$  as  $k \to \infty$ , i.e., the iterates approach feasibility.
- Objective convergence.  $f(x^k) + g(z^k) \to p^*$  as  $k \to \infty$ , i.e., the objective function of the iterates approaches the optimal value.
- Dual variable convergence.  $y^k \to y^*$  as  $k \to \infty$ , where  $y^*$  is a dual optimal point.

# Appendix B

## **Simulation Environment**

## B-1 MATLAB

The simulation environment used is MATLAB. The optimization toolbox of MATLAB was used to solve the problem. The **fmincon** function is used to solve the aggreagtor and EV problems. The optimization technique used was interior-point in the fmincon function. The simulation parameters are given below as follows:

## **B-2** Simulation Parameters

EV Parameters			
Parameter	Parameter Description		
$E_{bat}$	Battery Capacity	50kWh	
α	Battery degradation constant	$0.017 \ kW/h$	
$N_e$	Number of EV's in Fleet	40	
с	Number of times connected to grid	$\{1,2\}$	
$\eta_{ch}$	Charging efficiency	0.91	
Т	Time period	24	

Table B-1: EV parameters

Price Based Parameters		
Parameter	Parameter Description	
ρ	Penalty factor	0.001
$\gamma$	Trade-off parameter	1
$\epsilon_p$	Primal Convergence tolerance	1
$\epsilon_d$	Dual Convergence tolerance	1
$\lambda$	Factor for $\rho$ updation	0.001
$\mu$	Factor for $\rho$ updation	0.01
$\bar{x_a}$	Maximum Power taken from grid	600 kW
$x_a$	Minimal Power given back to grid	0

Table B-2: Price based parameters

## Bibliography

- Shahab Afshar and Vahid Disfani. A Distributed EV Charging Framework Considering Aggregators Collaboration. In 2021 IEEE Madrid PowerTech, PowerTech 2021 -Conference Proceedings, 2021.
- [2] Milad Akbari, Morris Brenna, and Michela Longo. Optimal locating of electric vehicle charging stations by application of Genetic Algorithm. Sustainability (Switzerland), 10(4), 2018.
- [3] Syed Muhammad Arif, Tek Tjing Lie, Boon Chong Seet, Soumia Ayyadi, and Kristian Jensen. Review of electric vehicle technologies, charging methods, standards and optimization techniques, 2021.
- [4] Shahab Bahrami and Mostafa Parniani. Game theoretic based charging strategy for plug-in hybrid electric vehicles. *IEEE Transactions on Smart Grid*, 5(5), 2014.
- [5] Stephen Boyd, Neal Parikh, Eric Chu, Borja Peleato, and Jonathan Eckstein. Distributed optimization and statistical learning via the alternating direction method of multipliers, 2010.
- [6] Stephen Brown, David Pyke, and Paul Steenhof. Electric vehicles: The role and importance of standards in an emerging market. *Energy Policy*, 38(7), 2010.
- [7] Yijia Cao, Shengwei Tang, Canbing Li, Peng Zhang, Yi Tan, Zhikun Zhang, and Junxiong Li. An optimized EV charging model considering TOU price and SOC curve. *IEEE Transactions on Smart Grid*, 3(1), 2012.

- [8] Y. Chen, A. Oudalov, and J. S. Wang. Integration of electric vehicle charging system into distribution network. In 8th International Conference on Power Electronics - ECCE Asia: "Green World with Power Electronics", ICPE 2011-ECCE Asia, 2011.
- [9] ÇAĞLA DERİCİOĞLU, EMRAK YİRİK, ERDEM ÜNAL, MEHMET UĞRAŞ CUMA, BURAK ONUR, and MEHMET TÜMAY. A REVIEW OF CHARGING TECHNOLO-GIES FOR COMMERCIAL ELECTRIC VEHICLES. INTERNATIONAL JOURNAL OF ADVANCES ON AUTOMOTIVE AND TECHNOLOGY, 2018.
- [10] Masoud Esmaili and Ali Goldoust. Multi-objective optimal charging of plug-in electric vehicles in unbalanced distribution networks. *International Journal of Electrical Power* and Energy Systems, 73, 2015.
- [11] Hua Fan, Chao Duan, Chuan Ke Zhang, Lin Jiang, Chengxiong Mao, and Dan Wang. ADMM-Based Multiperiod Optimal Power Flow Considering Plug-In Electric Vehicles Charging. *IEEE Transactions on Power Systems*, 33(4), 2018.
- [12] Jorge García-Álvarez, Miguel A. González, and Camino R. Vela. A genetic algorithm for scheduling electric vehicle charging. In GECCO 2015 - Proceedings of the 2015 Genetic and Evolutionary Computation Conference, 2015.
- [13] Gaoqi He, Zhifu Chai, Xingjian Lu, Fanxin Kong, and Bing Sheng. ADMM-Based decentralized electric vehicle charging with trip duration limits. In *Proceedings - Real-Time Systems Symposium*, volume 2019-December, 2019.
- [14] Masoud Honarmand, Alireza Zakariazadeh, and Shahram Jadid. Optimal scheduling of electric vehicles in an intelligent parking lot considering vehicle-to-grid concept and battery condition. *Energy*, 65, 2014.
- [15] Adnane Houbbadi, Rochdi Trigui, Serge Pelissier, Eduardo Redondo-Iglesias, and Tanguy Bouton. A quadratic programming based optimisation to manage electric bus fleet charging. *International Journal of Electric and Hybrid Vehicles*, 11(4), 2019.
- [16] Ruofan Jin, Bing Wang, Peng Zhang, and Peter B. Luh. Decentralised online charging scheduling for large populations of electric vehicles: A cyber-physical system approach. *International Journal of Parallel, Emergent and Distributed Systems*, 28(1), 2013.
- [17] Xing Jin, Ashish Vora, Vaidehi Hoshing, Tridib Saha, Gregory Shaver, Oleg Wasynczuk, and Subbarao Varigonda. Applicability of available Li-ion battery degradation models for system and control algorithm design. *Control Engineering Practice*, 71:1–9, 2 2018.
- [18] Behnam Khaki, Chicheng Chu, and Rajit Gadh. A Hierarchical ADMM Based Framework for EV Charging Scheduling. In Proceedings of the IEEE Power Engineering Society Transmission and Distribution Conference, volume 2018-April, 2018.

- [19] Woongsup Lee, Lin Xiang, Robert Schober, and Vincent W.S. Wong. Electric vehicle charging stations with renewable power generators: A game theoretical analysis. *IEEE Transactions on Smart Grid*, 6(2), 2015.
- [20] Situ Lixin. Electric vehicle development: The past, present & future. In 2009 3rd International Conference on Power Electronics Systems and Applications, PESA 2009, 2009.
- [21] Zhongjing Ma, Duncan Callaway, and Ian Hiskens. Decentralized charging control for large populations of plug-in electric vehicles: Application of the Nash certainty equivalence principle. In Proceedings of the IEEE International Conference on Control Applications, 2010.
- [22] Mostafa Rezaei Mozafar, Mohammad H. Moradi, and M. Hadi Amini. A simultaneous approach for optimal allocation of renewable energy sources and electric vehicle charging stations in smart grids based on improved GA-PSO algorithm. *Sustainable Cities and Society*, 32, 2017.
- [23] Wei Qi, Zhiwei Xu, Zuo Jun Max Shen, Zechun Hu, and Yonghua Song. Hierarchical coordinated control of plug-in electric vehicles charging in multifamily dwellings. *IEEE Transactions on Smart Grid*, 5(3), 2014.
- [24] Jose Rivera, Christoph Goebel, and Hans Arno Jacobsen. Distributed Convex Optimization for Electric Vehicle Aggregators. *IEEE Transactions on Smart Grid*, 8(4), 2017.
- [25] Jose Rivera, Philipp Wolfrum, Sandra Hirche, Christoph Goebel, and Hans Arno Jacobsen. Alternating direction method of multipliers for decentralized electric vehicle charging control. In *Proceedings of the IEEE Conference on Decision and Control*, 2013.
- [26] A. Sheikhi, Sh Bahrami, A. M. Ranjbar, and H. Oraee. Strategic charging method for plugged in hybrid electric vehicles in smart grids; A game theoretic approach. *International Journal of Electrical Power and Energy Systems*, 53(1), 2013.
- [27] Branimir Škugor and Joško Deur. Dynamic programming-based optimisation of charging an electric vehicle fleet system represented by an aggregate battery model. *Energy*, 92, 2015.
- [28] Trng Lăng. EV Market.
- [29] John Wang, Ping Liu, Jocelyn Hicks-Garner, Elena Sherman, Souren Soukiazian, Mark Verbrugge, Harshad Tataria, James Musser, and Peter Finamore. Cycle-life model for graphite-LiFePO4 cells. *Journal of Power Sources*, 196(8), 2011.

- [30] Ran Wang, Gaoxi Xiao, and Ping Wang. Hybrid Centralized-Decentralized (HCD) Charging Control of Electric Vehicles. *IEEE Transactions on Vehicular Technology*, 66(8), 2017.
- [31] Chao Kai Wen, Jung Chieh Chen, Jen Hao Teng, and Pangan Ting. Decentralized plugin electric vehicle charging selection algorithm in power systems. *IEEE Transactions on Smart Grid*, 3(4), 2012.
- [32] Peter Winker and Manfred Gilli. Applications of optimization heuristics to estimation and modelling problems. *Computational Statistics and Data Analysis*, 47(2 SPEC. ISS.), 2004.
- [33] Xiangwu Yan, Cong Duan, Xiao Chen, and Zhengyang Duan. Planning of Electric Vehicle charging station based on hierarchic genetic algorithm. In *IEEE Transportation Electrification Conference and Expo*, *ITEC Asia-Pacific 2014 - Conference Proceedings*, 2014.
- [34] Bo Yang, Jingwei Li, Qiaoni Han, Tian He, Cailian Chen, and Xinping Guan. Distributed Control for Charging Multiple Electric Vehicles with Overload Limitation. *IEEE Trans*actions on Parallel and Distributed Systems, 27(12), 2016.
- [35] Jun Yang, Lifu He, and Siyao Fu. An improved PSO-based charging strategy of electric vehicles in electrical distribution grid, 2014.
- [36] Alireza Zakariazadeh, Shahram Jadid, and Pierluigi Siano. Multi-objective scheduling of electric vehicles in smart distribution system. *Energy Conversion and Management*, 79, 2014.
- [37] Li Zhang, Faryar Jabbari, Tim Brown, and Scott Samuelsen. Coordinating plug-in electric vehicle charging with electric grid: Valley filling and target load following. *Journal* of Power Sources, 267, 2014.
- [38] Xu Zhou, Peng Wang, and Zhigang Gao. ADMM-Based Decentralized Charging Control of Plug-In Electric Vehicles with Coupling Constraints in Distribution Networks. In *Chinese Control Conference, CCC*, volume 2018-July, 2018.
- [39] Xu Zhou, Suli Zou, Peng Wang, and Zhongjing Ma. ADMM-Based Coordination of Electric Vehicles in Constrained Distribution Networks Considering Fast Charging and Degradation. *IEEE Transactions on Intelligent Transportation Systems*, 22(1), 2021.